SYNTHESIS OF OCTAHYDROBENZO-1,2,3-DIAZAPHOSPHOLIDINE-2-OXIDES AND THEIR DERIVATIVES: APPLICATIONS IN ASYMMETRIC SYNTHESIS DOI: http://dx.medra.org/10.17374/targets.2020.23.324

Carlos Cruz-Hernández^a, José M. Landeros^a, Éusebio Juaristi^{*a,b}

^aDepartamento de Química, Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados, Avenida IPN 2508,

07360 Ciudad de México, Mexico

^bEl Colegio Nacional, Luis González Obregón 23, Centro Histórico, 06020 Ciudad de México, Mexico (e-mail: juaristi@relaq.mx; ejuarist@cinvestav.mx)

Abstract. This chapter outlines recent efforts devoted to the synthesis of heterocycles that include the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide fragment, as well as their application in asymmetric synthesis. The first part of this review provides a brief discussion of the general structural characteristics of this phosphorus-containing heterocyclic scaffold. The second part describes the synthetic paths that were undertaken to synthesize the desired heterocycles, as well as some relevant considerations pertaining the spectroscopic characterization of the phosphorus-containing heterocycles of interest. The third part provides several illustrative examples where the novel chiral heterocycles were employed in enantioselective synthesis. The new phosphorus-containing heterocycles proved useful: i) as chiral auxiliaries in nucleophilic addition reactions, as well as as imine activators in electrophilic addition reactions; ii) as chiral ligands in nucleophilic allylation and crotonylation of prochiral aldehydes, and iii) as chiral organocatalysts in enantioselective aldol, Michael, and cascade reactions.

Contents

1. Introduction

- 2. Synthesis of the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxides
- 2.1. Conformational and configurational assignments
- 3. Applications in asymmetric synthesis
- 3.1. Octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide as chiral auxiliary
- 3.1.1. Phosphoryl group as a carbanion stabilizer in α and γ -functionalization
- 3.1.2. Phosphoryl moiety as activating group for electrophilic addition in β-functionalization
- 3.2. Chiral phosphoramides as Lewis bases
- 3.3. Phosphoramides as chiral organocatalysts
- 3.3.1. Asymmetric aldol reactions
- 3.3.2. Asymmetric Michael addition reactions
- 3.3.3. Asymmetric cascade processes
- 4. Conclusions

Acknowledgement

References

1. Introduction

In order to be successful, organic synthesis must take into consideration several crucial selectivity factors for the preparation of a given molecule. Most importantly, chemo-, regio- and stereoselectivity must be securely planned.¹ In this regard proper stereoselectivity is a very important factor for the synthesis of biological active molecules as their activity on living organisms is directly dependent of their relative and absolute configuration.² Indeed, enantiomeric isomers can be differentiated by their pharmacodynamic properties (stereospecific interactions in the living organism and the corresponding effects they induce) and pharmacokinetic behavior (distinctive absorption, distribution and elimination properties), and therefore represent two different active ingredients. For this reason, the organic chemist dedicated to the synthesis of pharmacologically active substances must develop stereoselective synthetic strategies affording a single enantiomer of any chiral target.

There exist several useful methodologies to obtain pure enantiomers that can be loosely subdivided in two major categories: 1) chiral resolution of racemic mixtures and 2) asymmetric synthesis of chiral compounds.³ The former strategy consists in the separation of a racemic mixture of enantiomers by physical methodologies such as fractional distillation, recrystallization, chiral phase chromatography, etc. These

techniques usually require the use of chiral resolving agents to generate diastereomeric derivatives (that present different physical and chemical behavior) from the enantiomeric substrates (that exhibit identical behavior).³

As it is the case with resolution methods, asymmetric synthesis requires the use of enantiopure chiral reagents in order to give rise to different kinetic profiles during the reaction.³ A popular strategy consists in the employment of natural products, as many of them are chiral and abundant so that can be isolated in high yield and high enantiopurity; this is the so-called chiral pool. In particular, natural products have been successfully used for the development of chiral auxiliaries and catalysts. In the case of employment of chiral auxiliaries, the prochiral substrate is first covalently bonded to the chiral auxiliary so that subsequent reactions with non-chiral reagents will be stereoselective as a consequence of diastereomeric transition states with different activation energies. Eventually the auxiliary must be removed, thus the insertion and removal of the chiral auxiliary must be a simple and high yielding process allowing when possible to recover such valuable chiral molecule.³

Unlike chiral auxiliaries that are used in stoichiometric quantities, catalytic reagents are employed in sub-stoichiometric amounts to induce the formation of enantiopure or enantioenriched products. Asymmetric catalytic methods may be further subdivided in three major types, biocatalysis, catalysis induced by chiral metal complexes, and chiral organocatalysis.

In the present overview we will describe the use of the chiral heterocycle octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide I as chiral inductor in asymmetric organic synthesis. This moiety has been previously used as chiral auxiliary by Hanessian, Li, and others. Furthermore, it has also been employed as chiral Lewis base by Denmark in the asymmetric activation of silicon species through hypervalent silicon nucleophiles. Finally, chiral scaffold I has been applied in asymmetric organocatalysis by Juaristi and co-workers (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Applications of octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide in asymmetric synthesis.

It can be appreciated that the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide moiety exhibits C_2 symmetry as the result of the *trans*-cyclohexane diamine segment. The bicyclic core adopts an anchored conformation with the alkyl groups at nitrogen oriented in a *trans*-diequatorial relationship that appears to be responsible for the observed diastereofacial selectivity.⁴ It will be demonstrated that these structural characteristics make **I** and derivatives excellent chiral inductors (*vide infra*).

2. Synthesis of the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxides

The synthesis of the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide I residue was carried out by the condensation of the corresponding enantiopure *trans*-cyclohexanediamine II with several electrophilic phosphorous reagents such as phosphorus oxychloride, phosphorous trichloride, etc. Thus, resolution of commercially available *rac-trans*-cyclohexanediamine *rac-*1 with tartaric acid,⁵ followed by alkylation with carbonyl compounds *via* reductive amination afforded alkylated diamines (*R*,*R*)-II and (*S*,*S*)-II (Scheme 1a).⁶ On the other hand, *trans*-diamines II could also be prepared from cyclohexene oxide 2 as shown in

Scheme 1b, employing enantiopure amines (S)- or (R)-phenylethylamine^{7,8} and (R)-2-naphthylethylamine.⁹ These reactions provide diastereomeric derivatives, which could be separated by fractional crystallization of the corresponding di-chlorhydrates,^{8,10} or by flash column chromatography.⁷



Scheme 1. General approaches for the synthesis of substituted secondary trans-1,2-cyclohexanediamines II.

The next step in the synthesis of the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide I residue consisted in the condensation of the enantiopure (S,S)- or (R,R)-diamines II with electrophilic phosphorus reagents as shown in Scheme 2. Relevantly, Hanessian and co-workers have carried out this reaction in the presence of hexamethylphosphorotriamine $[P(NMe_2)_3]$ in refluxing benzene to obtain the anticipated phospholane, which was subjected to a nucleophilic substitution reaction in refluxing ethanol to give compound III. Finally, an Arbuzov type reaction with alkyl halides afforded the desired diazaphospholidine-2-oxide derivative in good yields.¹¹

Alkyl phosphinic dichlorides IV were employed in order to incorporate allyl or crotyl *P*-substituents. Condensation with diamine II in the presence of base gave the desired product I.¹² An alternative method developed by Denmark,¹³ Li,¹⁴ and Juaristi^{8,9} consists in the condensation of the chiral amines with phosphorous oxychloride in refluxing toluene in the presence of triethylamine or pyridine as base. The resulting *P*-chloro derivatives V were treated with nucleophilic organometallic reagents such as Grignard reagents, sodium azide, and others to afford the desired phosphoramide I. Finally, phosphinic acids VI could be deprotonated with strong bases such as LDA or *n*-BuLi and then trapped with alkyl halides to give the desired products I.¹⁵



Scheme 2. Synthesis of octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphosphorinane-2-oxide moiety.

2.1. Conformational and configurational assignments

As in the case of most organic compounds, the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide derivatives are characterized by traditional techniques such as infrared, mass spectrometry, and proton and carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). Furthermore, the presence of phosphorus allows the use of P-31 NMR spectroscopy.

One important characteristic of derivatives I is that this moiety promotes the formation of solid compounds which could afford good quality crystals for X-ray crystal diffraction structural analysis. In fact, Hanessian and co-workers reported over a dozen crystallographic structures which permit the correct assignment of the stereochemistry in these heterocycles (Figure 2).¹⁶⁻²²



Figure 2. Examples of structurally related phosphoramides with reported X-ray diffraction crystallographic structures.¹⁶⁻²²

From the analysis of the crystallographic structures, together with appropriate computational calculations, Hanessian and co-workers established that the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide moiety adopts a conformationally fixed structure where the cyclohexane ring is anchored in a chair conformation,²² with a *pseudo trans* relationship between the *N*-methyl groups (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Conformation of bicyclic phosphoramides (R,R)-I and (S,S)-I adopted in the solid state.

In this context, we recently reported seven X-ray crystallographic structures,^{8,9,23} which present similar characteristics relative to those observed by Hanessian (Figure 4).



Figure 4. X-ray crystallographic structures of some phosphoramide derivatives of type I obtained in our laboratory

3. Applications in asymmetric synthesis

This section presents several asymmetric strategies based on the application of the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide segment. As the result of its C_2 -symmetry, this

3.1. Octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide as chiral auxiliary

In the previous section we briefly discussed some conformational characteristics of the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide segment, although nothing has been said about the chemical properties that in fact make this and related structures containing the phosphoryl group, a very good activator agent in chemical synthesis. In one hand, the phosphoryl group helps stabilize α -carbanions by both inductive and hyperconjugative mechanisms. Such stabilized carbanions have been frequently utilized in synthesis, for example in the famous Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons reaction. On the other hand, the phosphoryl group can activate imines for electrophilic addition *via* inductive effects. This dichotomy in reactivity of phosphoryl containing compounds make possible the α - and γ -functionalization when acting as nucleophile, and β -functionalization when acting as electrophile (*vide infra*).

3.1.1. Phosphoryl group as a carbanion stabilizer in α - and γ -functionalization

The use of chiral organophosphorus compounds in asymmetric syntheses has been reported extensively.²⁴⁻²⁶ This section will be focused in applications of chiral phosphoramides containing the general framework **I**. The first report for the synthesis and application of the bicyclic octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide moiety was made by Hanessian and co-workers;¹¹ nevertheless, it must be mentioned that Denmark and Chen²⁷ and Hua, et al.²⁸ worked with structurally related heterocycles but using chiral oxazaphosphorinane and oxazaphospholidine moieties, respectively. In the present system of interest, compounds **6** can be deprotonated with strong bases such as LDA and *n*-BuLi to afford the corresponding lithium salts before reaction with various electrophiles. For example, in reaction with carbonyl compounds Wittig olefination produces alkenes with excellent diastereoselectivities (up to 95:5) (Scheme 3).¹¹ In a complementary fashion, treatment with alkyl halides provides α -functionalized derivatives *via* an S_N2 reaction.²⁹ Furthermore, in the presence of unsaturated substituents such as in **9**, then γ -functionalization becomes possible.^{12,30,31} Interesting variations of this methodology have been described in the synthesis of natural products as it can give rise up to four new chiral centers.³²



Scheme 3. Application of Hanessian's auxiliary in the Wittig olefination, and in α - and γ -functionalization.

The selectivity achieved in these processes is explained in terms of the transition state depicted in Scheme 3, where the electrophile is attacked from the less hindered side, that is the face closer to the lone pair of electrons at nitrogen. Nevertheless, this preference can change depending on the type of electrophile and the nature of the R group.^{12,22,29}

3.1.2. Phosphoryl moiety as activating group for electrophilic addition in β-functionalization

Since 2008, in their search for novel chiral auxiliaries Li and co-workers have been developing the so-called *N*-phosphonyl chemistry.³³ The general molecular structure that is representative of this series of studies is depicted in Figure 5. Salient features of chiral *N*,*N*-disubstituted-*N*-phosphonyl imines include the C_2 -symmetric structure that can be easily modified by varying the *N*-protecting groups (R₁=isopropyl, benzyl, 1-naphthyl, *t*-butyl, etc.). By the same token, the steric hindrance and the nature of the substituent groups (R₂) can be readily modified, either with electron withdrawing groups (EWG) or electron donating groups (EDG). Additionally, the oxygen atom of the phosphoryl group (P=O) can be substituted by sulfur to give a thiophosphoryl group (P=S). Thanks to all this, the steric and electronic properties of the *N*-phosphonyl group can be modulated to improve the reactivity and stereoselectivity in various applications.²⁴



The synthesis of a new family of N,N'-dibenzyl-N''-phosphonylaldimines was achieved according to the general methodology summarized in Scheme 4.^{14,33}



Scheme 4 General synthesis of *N*,*N*-disubstituted-*N*-phosphoryl imines.

In a representative application of chiral *N*-phosphonyl imines where the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide moiety is acting as chiral auxiliary, Kattuboina and Li evaluated asymmetric aza-Darzens and aza-Henry reactions. As it can be appreciated in Scheme 5,

N-phosphoramide **14** reacted with aromatic carbaldehydes **15** in the presence of *N*,*N*-diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA) and TiCl₄, to afford chiral imines **16a-16j** in moderate yields (63%-74%).³³ Subsequently, an asymmetric aza-Darzens reaction was developed with *N*-phosphonyl imines **16** and the preformed lithium enolate of methyl 2-bromoacetate **17** to give new aziridines **18a-j** with good to excellent diastereoselectivity and moderate to good yields (59-82%) (Scheme 5). The absolute configuration of *N*-phosphonyl aziridine **18a** was determined by ring opening under acidic conditions (TFA, acetone/water at rt), affording β -hydroxyl- α -amino acid methyl esters of (*S*)-configuration. Based on this result, a cyclic six-membered transition state was proposed (Scheme 5), where the *Re* face of *N*-phosphonyl imine is attacked by the *Z*-configured lithium enolate **17**.



Scheme 5 Synthesis of aziridines via asymmetric aza-Darzens reaction.

Motivated by the rather high diastereoselectivity induced by the *N*-chiral phosphoryl fragment, Li *et al.* extended its application to the synthesis of α , β -diamino esters (Scheme 6).³⁴



Scheme 6 Asymmetric synthesis of α , β -diamino esters.

Furthermore, Ai *et al.* demonstrated the applicability of chiral *N*,*N*-disubstituted-*N*-phosphonyl imines for the synthesis of α -alkyl- β -amino ketones (Scheme 7).³⁵ In this work the 1-naphthylmethyl group affords the highest diastereoselectivity for the major *syn* stereoisomer (90:10 dr).

Additional applications of so-called *N*-phosphonyl chemistry examined by Li *et al.*^{14,33-48} include the synthesis of α -amino amides³⁶ and Weinreb β -amino amide,³⁷ propargyamines,³⁸ α -alkyl- β -amino nitriles,³⁹ homoallylic amines,⁴⁰ α -alkyl- α , β -diamino,⁴¹ α -amine-phosphonates,⁴² β -nitro amines,^{14,33} β -amino esters,⁴³ α -alkyl- β -amino malonates,⁴⁴ α -amino-1,3-dithianyl derivatives,⁴⁵ β -amino ketones,⁴⁶ α -alkyl- β -amino ketones,⁴⁷ and α -quaternary- α , β -diamines⁴⁸ (Figure 6).

3.2. Chiral phosphoramides as Lewis bases

A Lewis base (LB) catalyzed reaction is defined as an accelerated reaction where a Lewis acid (LA) or electron-acceptor is activated by the action of electron donor species.



331

Scheme 7 Asymmetric synthesis of α-alkyl-β-amino carbonyl derivatives.



Figure 6 Asymmetric reactions with N,N'-disubstituted-N-phosphonyl imine.

In this regard, Denmark and Gutmann noticed a significant increase in electron density present in the fragment of the acceptor when an acid-base adduct is generated.^{49,50} Such increased electron density around the acceptor atom is distributed to the most electronegative peripheral atoms; therefore, a consequence of this interaction is that the acceptor atom becomes more electrophilic, while one of its ligands becomes more

nucleophilic, allowing dual activation of the substrates. In line with the above, silicon atom exhibits this type of behavior, which can expand its sphere of coordination thanks to its empty 3d orbitals, giving rise to stable "hypervalent silicates" (e.g. penta- or hexacoordinated species).⁵¹

In 1994, Denmark developed asymmetrical allylation and crotylation reactions of prochiral aldehydes using phosphoramides as chiral Lewis bases in the presence of allyl- and crotyl-trichlorosilanes (Scheme 8).¹³ This protocol affords the corresponding chiral allylation and crotylation products in moderate to good yields, excellent diastereoselectivities, and moderate enantioselectivity, as shown in Scheme 8. Several solvents and both achiral and chiral phosphoramides were assayed. The results show no significant solvent effect in the reaction's enantioselectivity, although hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA, 27) affords the product as racemic mixture in 80% of yield. The presence of chiral substituents in derivatives of *N*,*N*-phosphoramide results in higher stereoselectivity.



Scheme 8 Allylation and crotonylation of aldehydes 31 using chiral N,N-phosphoryl amides 27-30.

Denmark's group envisioned the use of chiral N,N-dimethyl-N-phosphoramides as chiral Lewis bases in asymmetric aldol addition reactions between aldehydes and preformed trichlorosilyl enolates (Scheme 9).⁵² Preliminary optimization was conducted in HMPA solvent, affording the aldol product in good to excellent yields. When trichlorosilylacetate 37 reacts with benzaldehyde 36a or pivalaldehyde 36b in the presence of 27, 28g, or 39, the reaction proceeded with good yields (76-88%) but low enantioselectivity (<27% ee).

Subsequently, Denmark et al. extended this methodology to other ketone enolate derivatives;53-58 the authors propose the formation of hexacoordinated and pentacoordinate silicon species in the transition state to explain the diastereo- and enantioselectivity (Figure 7).

3.3. Phosphoramides as chiral organocatalysts

Organocatalysis has emerged as an important methodology for asymmetric synthesis and complements enzymatic catalysis, as well as that mediated by transition metals in coordination compounds. In this regard, organocatalysis presents certain practical advantages since for example their preparation is easy and generally cheaper; furthermore, its use does not require special reaction conditions because organocatalysts tend to be more stable to moisture and oxygen.⁵⁹



333

Scheme 9 Asymmetric addol addition of enolates to aldehydes using chiral N,N-phosphoryl amides.



Figure 7 Proposed transition states for syn- and anti-product in the Mukaiyama type aldol reaction.

Advances in organocatalysis have made it possible to identify the specific molecular characteristics necessary for the effective role of organic compounds as catalysts, as well as the development of various activation modes according to the substrate and the type of reaction.⁶⁰ In addition, the search for environmentally friendlier reaction conditions has led to the development of procedures that can be used for example, under solvent-free conditions with ball mill activation,⁶¹ in water solvent,⁶² under *neat* reaction conditions,⁶³ or involving ionic liquids,⁶⁴ which facilitates their recovery and recycling.

Thus, our work in this area has been focused in the development of several novel catalysts with hydrophobic characteristics for their use in processes in the presence of water, that is a cheap, safe and low environmental impact solvent.⁹ The design of these new catalysts was based on the understanding of the various forms of activation in organocatalysis, from non-covalent interactions such as hydrogen bonding in Brønsted acid type catalysis⁶⁵ to covalent catalysis via enamine and other Lewis-base catalysts.⁶⁶

3.3.1. Asymmetric aldol reactions

The aldol reaction constitutes an important strategy in organic synthesis for C–C bond formation with the concomitant creation of up to two new stereogenic centers. Two of the first reports of organocatalytic reactions were made independently by Hajos and co-workers⁶⁷ and by Eder and co-workers⁶⁸ in the 1970s, when reporting the Robinson annulation reaction catalyzed by (*S*)-proline. Nevertheless, it was not until the year 2000 that the seminal works of List an co-workers⁶⁹ in the aldol reaction catalyzed by (*S*)-proline, and MacMillan and co-workers in the Diels-Alder cycloaddition reaction catalyzed by chiral oxazolidinones,⁷⁰ triggered the rapid development of asymmetric organocatalysis. Indeed, following this pioneering work organocatalysis grew forcefully to include several kinds of activation modes to catalyze different transformations. In this regard, our efforts in the field were devoted to the design of new organocatalysts with hydrophobic characteristics, that could be employed in aldol addition reactions. Three important factors were taken into consideration:^{8,23} 1) the essential incorporation of the pyrrolidine ring derived from chiral prolinamide to ensure chiral enamine chemistry;⁶⁶ 2) the presence of a group that increases the acidity of the amide hydrogen in order to activate the corresponding electrophile via hydrogen bonding;⁶⁵ 3) the incorporation of a chiral framework that generates the asymmetric environment and also confers the desired hydrophobic characteristics (Figure 8).^{62,71}



Figure 8. Organocatalysts 40 and 41 developed by Juaristi and co-workers^{8,23} for the asymmetric aldol reaction.

Both catalysts **40** and **41** present the octahydrobenzo-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide moiety as a unique framework, that was synthesized as shown in Scheme 10.



i. LiClO₄, CH₃CN, reflux, 20 h. ii. MsCl, Et₃N, THF, rt 24h. iii. (*R*)- or (S)-FEA, LiClO₄, CH₃CN, reflux, 60 h. iv. HCl, AcOEt, Recristalization (MeOH/AcOEt (1:3)). v. 1. NaOH 1M Et₂O, rt 30 min 2. P(O)Cl₃, Et₃N Tol. reflux, 16 h. vi. NaN₃, DMF/DMSO 9:1, MW, 40 watts, 55° C 1h. vii. Pd/C, H₂ (1 atm), MeOH, rt Scheme 10. Synthesis of the chiral phosphoramide framework of interest.

The coupling of (*S*)- or (*R*)-proline methyl ester with phosphoramide **50** was made through the phosphoramide lithium salt.⁸ In the case of catalyst **41** the lithium phosphoramide was reacted with benzyl 2-bromoacetate to afford bromide **51**, and then the bromo was substituted by an amino NH₂ group trough the reduction of the corresponding azide **52**, that was obtained by an S_N2 reaction. Finally, the phosphoramide-glycine adduct was coupled with *N*-Boc protected (*S*)- or (*R*)-proline, employing T3P[®] as coupling reagent (Scheme 11).²³

Novel organocatalysts **40** and **41** were evaluated in the aldol reaction between cyclohexanone and 4-nitrobenzaldehyde. Although catalyst **40** provided the aldol products with moderate selectivity, it proved rather effective in enantioselective additions to isatin; a transformation that until now has been more commonly explored with primary amines as catalysts.⁷² Finally, it could be established that the stereochemistry of the product is controlled by the configuration of the (*S*)-proline moiety (Scheme 12). As anticipated, the isomeric catalyst with the (*R*)-configuration at proline segment gave the enantiomeric products.⁸

Several structural modifications of the organocatalyst were performed with the aim of improving the selectivity in the addition of cyclohexanone to arylcarbaldehydes. In particular, the effect of the incorporation of a spacer group in **41** was carried out by means of the use of (*S*)- or (*R*)-Pro-Gly dipeptide (Scheme 13).⁷³ This modification had two consequences: 1) an increase in the organocatalyst's reactive "cavity" during incorporation of the electrophile; 2) the presence of an additional hydrogen bond donor

334

group.⁷⁴ With this modification, it was indeed possible to improve the asymmetric induction in reactions involving arylaldehydes as substrate for the aldol addition with cyclohexanone.²³ Furthermore, the catalytic activity using isatins as the substrate was maintained, and the product's configuration is again dependent on the configuration of the proline segment; that is, the presence of an additional chiral center on the dipeptidic segment does not affect significantly the reaction's stereochemical course.²³



Scheme 12. Asymmetric organocatalyzed aldol reaction between cyclohexanone and isatins.



Scheme 13. Application of the improved catalyst 41 in asymmetric aldol reactions.

Inspired by the finding made by Jørgensen, Hayashi, and co-workers regarding the fact that some organocatalysts efficiency depends substantially on steric interactions, 75,76 it was decided to perform the synthesis of catalysts with *N*-(2*R*)-2-naphthylethylamine substituents instead of *N*-(2*R*)-2-phenylethylamino

groups (Scheme 14).⁹ The synthesis followed similar strategy to those reported above.^{8,23} The new catalysts **61** and **62** were very efficient in the enantioselective aldol addition of cyclohexanone to arylcarbaldehydes as well as isatins, although the difference in size of the aryl moiety did not affect significantly the extent of chiral induction.⁹



Scheme 14. Synthesis of new catalysts 61 and 62 incorporating sterically larger aryl groups.

3.3.2. Asymmetric Michael addition reactions

Seeking to expand the range of application of the novel organocatalytic system to other C–C bond forming reactions, the new organocatalyst **63** incorporating both a thiourea segment and the prolinamine residue was synthesized and evaluated in the Michael addition of enolizable carbonyl substrates compounds such as cyclohexanone and acetophenone to nitrostyrenes and chalcones. This new organocatalyst presents features which are attractive for the enantioselective Michael addition reaction. In particular, the thiourea moiety helps activate and bring into proximity potential Michael acceptors by means of hydrogen bonding. Furthermore, the phosphoramide group directly bound to the urea segment enhances the acidity of the adjacent N–H bond, that should become a better hydrogen bond donor. Indeed, the Michael products of interest where obtained in good yield and enantioselectivity up to 98:2 (Scheme 15).⁷⁷



Scheme 15. Application of novel urea-containing organocatalyst 63 in asymmetric organocatalyzed Michael addition.⁷⁷

3.3.3. Asymmetric cascade processes

Because of the mechanism involved, an important characteristic of the Michael addition reaction is that it offers the possibility of performing cascade processes that give rise to the formation of new C–C bonds as well as additional centers of chirality in more complex structures. This feature was elegantly demonstrated by Hanessian^{30,31} and more recently by Tang and co-workers.⁷⁸ Thus, it was deemed of interest to evaluate the potential of organocatalyst **63** in the [3+3] formal cyclization reaction, arising from a cascade process between cyclohexanone **54** and arylidenepyruvate methyl esters **64a-c**. The cascade process involves the Michael addition-proton transfer-aldol addition to produce bicyclic products in good selectivity (Scheme 16).⁷⁷



Scheme 16. Enantioselective organocatalyzed cascade reaction with organocatalyst 63.77

4. Conclusions

In summary, four reported approaches for the preparation of chiral heterocycles containing the octahydro-1,3,2-diazaphospholidine-2-oxide framework are revised in the present overview. More relevantly, selected examples of their application in asymmetric synthesis are presented. In particular, their employment as chiral ligands in natural product synthesis and Wittig and aziridination reactions proceeded with good to excellent stereoselectivity. Furthermore, the use of the diazaphosphol-2-oxide framework as chiral auxiliary in imines gives rise to *N*-phosphonyl imine chemistry that is especially successful for the asymmetric synthesis of amino esters, aziridines, amino ketones, α , β -diamino esters, propargylamines and homoallylic amines. Finally, application in asymmetric organocatalysis provides interesting examples of enantioselective Michael, aldol and cascade reactions, affording products with good to excellent stereoselectivity. With all this evidence it can be anticipated that heterocycles containing the *N*-phosphoryl moiety will be continuously developed, playing a key role in modern organic synthesis.

Acknowledgement

We thank Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACYT, Mexico) for financial support via grants No. A1-S-44097.

References

- 1. Warren, S.; Wyatt, P. Organic Synthesis, the Disconnection Approach, 2nd Ed., Wiley, London, 2008.
- 2. Nguyen, L. A.; He, H.; Pham-Huy, C. Int. J. Biomed. Sci. 2006, 2, 85-100.
- 3. Juaristi, E. Introduction to Stereochemistry and Conformational Analysis. Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1991.
- 4. Bennani, Y. L.; Hanessian, S. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 3161-3195.
- 5. Walsh, P. J.; Smith, D. K.; Castello, C. J. Chem. Ed. 1998, 75, 1459-1462.
- 6. Gomez, S.; Peters, J. A.; Maschmeyer, T. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2002, 344, 1037-1057.
- Mastranzo, V. M.; Santacruz, E.; Huelgas, G.; Paz, E.; Sosa-Rivadeneyra, M. V.; Bernès, S.; Juaristi, E.; Quintero, L.; Anaya de Parrodi, C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2006, 17, 1663-1670.
- 8. Cruz-Hernández, C.; Hernández-González, P. E.; Juaristi, E. Synthesis 2018, 50, 1827-1840.
- 9. Cruz- Hernández, C.; Landeros, J. M.; Juaristi, E. New J. Chem. 2019, 43, 5455-5465.
- 10. Barbaro, P.; Bianchini, C.; Volker, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1996, 7, 843-850.
- 11. Hanessian, S.; Delorme, D.; Beaudoin, S.; Leblanc. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 5754-5756.
- 12. Hanessian, S.; Gomtyan, A.; Payne, A.; Hervé, Y.; Beaudoin, S. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 5032-5034.
- 13. Denmark, S. E.; Coe, D. M.; Pratt, N. E.; Griedel, B. D. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 6161-6163.
- 14. Kattuboina, A.; Kaur, P.; Ai, T.; Li, G. Chem. Biol. Drug. Des. 2008, 71, 216-223.
- Anaya de Parrodi, C.; Moreno, G. E.; Quintero-Cortés L.; Juaristi, E. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 2093-2099.
- 16. Bélanger-Gariépy, F.; Delorme, D.; Hanessian, S.; Brisse, F. Acta Cryst. C 1986, 42, 856-860.
- 17. Bélanger-Gariépy, F.; Bennani, Y. L.; Hanessian, S.; Brisse, F. Acta Cryst. C 1989, 45, 289-291.
- 18. Bennani, Y. L.; Bélanger-Gariépy, F.; Hanessian, S. Acta Cryst. C 1990, 46, 653-656.
- 19. Bennani, Y. L.; Hannessian, S. Acta Cryst. C 1991, 47, 1230-1234.
- 20. Bélanger-Gariépy, F.; Bennani, Y.; Beudoin, S.; Hanessian, S. Acta Cryst. C 1992, 48, 1533-1535.
- 21. Simard, M.; Beudoin, S.; Hanessian, S. Acta Cryst. C 1992, 48, 1535-1537.
- 22. Bennani, Y. L.; Hanessian, S. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 13837-13866.

- 23. Cruz-Hernández, C.; Hernández-González, P. E.; Juaristi, E. Synthesis 2018, 50, 3445-3459.
- 24. An, G.; Seiferta, C.; Li, G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2015, 13, 1600-1617.
- 25. Molt, O.; Schrader, T. Synthesis 2002, 18, 2633-2670.
- 26. Kolodiazhnyi, O. I. Asymmetric Synthesis in Organophosphorus Chemistry, Synthetic Methods, Catalysis and Applications, Wiley-VCH, New York, **2016**.
- 27. Denmark, S. E.; Chen, C.-T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11879-11897.
- 28. Hua, D. H.; Can-Yu-King, R.; Makie, J. A.; Myer, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5026-5029.
- 29. Hanessian, S.; Beaudoin, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 7655-7658.
- 30. Hanessian, S.; Gomtsyan, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 7509-7512
- 31. Hanessian, S.; Andreotti, D.; Gomtsyan, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10393-10394.
- 32. Focken T.; Hanessian, S. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2014, 10, 1848-1877.
- 33. Kattuboina, A.; Li, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 1573-1577.
- 34. Ai, T.; Li, G. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2009, 19, 3967-3969.
- 35. Ai, T.; Han, J.; Chen, Z.-X.; Li, G. Chem. Biol. Drug. Des. 2009, 73, 203-208.
- 36. Seifert, C. W.; Pindi, S.; Li, G. J. Org. Chem. 2015, 80, 447-452.
- 37. Kaur, P.; Nguyen, T.; Li, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 912-916.
- 38. Kaur, P.; Shakya, G.; Sun, H.; Pan, Y.; Li, G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2010, 8, 1091-1096.
- 39. Yang, B.; Shen, M.; Ji, X.; Xu, Z.; Sun, H.; Jiang, B.; Li, G. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 2488-2493.
- 40. Kattuboina, A.; Kaur, P.; Nguyen, T.; Li, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 3722-3724.
- 41. Zhang, H.; Yang, B.; Yang, Z.; Lu, H.; Li, G. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 7654-7661.
- 42. Kaur, P.; Wever, W.; Rajale, T.; Li, G. Chem. Biol. Drug. Des. 2010, 76, 314-319.
- 43. Han, J.; Ai, T.; Nguyen. T.; Li, G. Chem. Biol. Drug. Des. 2008, 72, 120-126.
- 44. Chen, Z.-X.; Ai, T.; Kaur, P.; Li, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2009, 50, 1079-1081.
- 45. Kattamuri, P. V.; Ai, T.; Pindi, S.; Sun, Y.; Gu, P.; Shi, M.; Li, G. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 76, 2792-2797.
- 46. Han, J.; Ai, T.; Li, G. Synthesis 2008, 16, 2519-2526.
- 47. Qiao, S.; Wilcox, C. B.; Unruh, D. K.; Jiang, B.; Li, G. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 2992-2999.
- 48. Zhang, H.; Yang, Z.; Zhao, B. N.; Li, G. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83, 644-655.
- 49. Denmark, S. E. Chimia. 2008, 62, 37-40.
- 50. Gutmann, V. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1975, 15, 207-237.
- 51. Orito, Y.; Nakajima, M. Synthesis 2006, 9, 1391-1401.
- 52. Denmark, S. E.; Winter, S. B. D.; Su, X.; Wong, K.-T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 7404-7405.
- 53. Denmark, S. E.; Wong, K.-T.; Stavenger, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2333-2334.
- 54. Denmark, S. E.; Stavenger, R. A.; Wong, K.-T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 918-919.
- 55. Denmark, S. E.; Stavenger, R. A.; Winter, S. B. D.; Wong, K.-W.; Barsanti, P. A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 9517-9523.
- 56. Denmark, S. E.; Heemstra Jr., J. R. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2303-2306.
- 57. Denmark, S. E.; Beutner, G. L.; Wynn, T.; Eastgate, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 3774-3789.
- 58. Beutner, G. L.; E. Denmark, S. E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 9086-9096.
- 59. Seayad, J.; List, B. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 719-724.
- 60. MacMillan, D. W. C. Nature 2008, 455, 304-308.
- 61. Hernández, J. G.; Juaristi, E. Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 5396-5409.
- 62. Giacalone, F.; Gruttadauria, M. In Comprehensive Enantioselective Organocatalysis: Catalysts, Reactions and Applications, 1st ed., Vol. 2, P. I. Dalko, Ed., Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, **2013**, 673.
- Avila-Ortiz, C. G.; López-Ortiz, M.; Vega-Peñaloza, A.; Regla, I.; Juaristi, E. Asymmetric Catalysis, Topical Issue on Organocatalysis 2015, 2, 37-44.
- 64. Obregón-Zúñiga, A.; Guerrero-Robles, M.; Juaristi, E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 2692-2697.
- 65. Allemann, C.; Gordillo, R.; Clemente, F. R.; Cheong, P. H-Y.; Houk, K. N. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 558-569.
- 66. Mukherjee, S.; Yang, J. W.; Hoffmann, S.; List, B. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5471-5569.
- 67. Hajos, Z. G.; Parrish, D. R. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 1615-1621.
- 68. Eder, U.; Sauer, G. R.; Wiechert, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1971, 10, 496-497
- 69. List, B.; Lerner, R. A.; Barbas III, C. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 2395-2396.

- 70. Ahrendt, K. A.; Borths, C. J.; MacMillan, D. W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 4243-4244.
- 71. Breslow, R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1991, 24, 159-164.
- 72. Ricci, A.; Bernardi, L.; Gioia, C.; Verucci, S.; Robitzer, M.; Quignard, F. Chem. Commun. 2010, 46, 6288-6290.
- 73. Hernández, J. G.; Juaristi, E. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 76, 1464-1467.
- 74. Tang, Z.; Jiang, F.; Yu, L-T.; Cui, X.; Gong, L-Z.; Mi, A-Q.; Jiang, Y-Z.; Wu, Y-D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 5262-5263.
- 75. Marigo, M.; Wabnitz, T. C.; Fielenbach, D.; Jørgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 794-797.
- 76. Hayashi, Y.; Gotoh, H.; Hayashi, T.; Shoji, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2005, 44, 4212-4215.
- 77. Cruz-Hernández, C.; Martínez-Martínez, E.; Hernández-González, P. E. Juaristi, E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 2018, 6890-6900.
- 78. Cao, C.-L.; Sun, X.-L.; Kang, Y.-B.; Tang, Y. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4151-4154.